1952

# Pearl McConkie Perry v. J. Archie McConkie and William H. McConkie : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

### Preliminary Statement

This action was brought by Plaintiff, Pearl McConkie Perry, against the Defendants, her two brothers, to have them adjudged trustees of the lands described in her complaint, for the heirs of the estate of Virtus F. McConkie, deceased, and to require them to account for the income and proceeds derived therefrom. She is the only dissatisfied heir of Virtus McConkie, and bases her claim upon the theory that the title to the lands in question was in the name of and belonged to Virtus F. McConkie at the time of his

death, but were not inventoried or included in his estate in the probate thereof; and that certain assignments transferring and assigning the equity in these lands to Virtus McConkie had been altered by removal of the name of Virtus F. McConkie, and insertion of the name of J. Archie McConkie, one of the defendants.

Defendants' theory was that J. Archie McConkie was the sole owner of the property by virtue of patents from the State of Utah; that the father hadn't any interest therein; that any interest plaintiff may have had under her father's estate, assuming such an interest, passed to her mother by virtue of an assignment to the mother and a Decree of Distribution in the Estate, which distributed all the particularly described property and also all other undescribed and unknown property of the estate, to her mother. Defendants also raised the question of the Statute of Limitations; that this was a collateral attack which could not be properly made against the decree, and raised the question of whether the plaintiff was not suing the wrong parties.

From a decision of the trial court that defendants hold the property in trust for the heirs of Virtus F. McConkie, deceased, and that these heirs are entitled to an accounting, the defendants have appealed.

### Statement of Facts

Virtus F. McConkie died February 20, 1920 at Maeser, Uintah County, Utah. His widow, Caroline E. McConkie was appointed administratrix and proceeded to administer the estate. She filed the requisite inventory and appraisement, but did not include in the inventory the property now in dispute, which is described frequently in the record as the LaPoint property, and will be referred to herein by that designation.

All of the heirs met together in the office of Tom O'Donnell, an attorney, during the course of the probate, and at that time the rights of all the children (except Marie who was then under age and who signed later Tr. 139), assigned all their rights and interest in the estate to their mother. (Tr. 8, 139). Thereafter, the estate which had a value of approximately \$15,000 was distributed to the mother. (See probate file, admitted in evidence Tr. 54). The decree of distribution contained an omnibus clause which distributed to Caroline E. McConkie all property owned by Virtus F. McConkie, whether known or unknown. (Ex. Probate File).

The two sons, Archie and William, continued to help the mother operate the property during the

probate of the estate, and thereafter, and the funds derived therefrom were used to defray the family expenses. During a part of this time at least, the family group living together consisted of the mother, Marie, Leona, the two sons and the plaintiff and her four children. (Tr. 117). After the probate of the estate it was agreed that Archie and William should have the property upon their payment to each of the girls the sum of \$2,000, and their supporting and taking care of the mother's financial needs during her lifetime.

There is considerable evidence that as early as 1927 Pearl agitated for more money for her share in the LaPoint property, and that the boys, upon recommendation of their mother gave each of the girls an additional \$1,000, and that in fact, Pearl received a total of \$3500. (Tr. 129, 130, 174).

Prior to her death Mrs. Caroline E. McConkie conveyed the Maeser property to William with the exception of the house which she conveyed to Marie who took care of her mother's personal needs during her declining years. (Tr. 119).

Prior to their father's death, Archie and William and their father worked the ranch properties as partners, and had done so for many years. This included the home property at Maeser, and, after its acquisi-



tion, the property at LaPoint. After their father's death Archie and William continued to work together, although it appears that they kept the LaPoint property separate from the Maeser property, which they operated along with their mother.

The plaintiff introduced evidence to the effect that she at no time prior to 1947 discovered that the LaPoint property was in her father's name, and that she only made this discovery when information from an uncle and a third party caused her to investigate. (Tr. 15, 16, 17) This, despite the fact that she lived next door to her parents with her first husband while she was married to him, and until she divorced him, and then went to live with her mother and brothers and sisters upon her divorce shortly after her father's death. (Tr. 25).

She testified that at the time of the assignment of their rights to their mother in O'Donnell's office, that the only discussion as to the LaPoint property was the statement by the mother, affirmed by the two boys, to the effect that this property belonged to the two boys (Tr. 23), and she knew at the time that the boys were living at the LaPoint property (Tr. 23). For a period of time after her father's death she lived at the LaPoint property with her brothers (Tr. 24, 25), after her divorce from her first husband, and before she remarried. (Tr. 23, 24).

She could not remember when she found out about the existence of the LaPoint property, and didn't know what had been traded for it (Tr. 26, 29, 34). Her statement was: (Tr. 30) "Well I don't know when—I know that the folks had an interest over there but I didn't know anything about the deals or anything about it, and they swore at the time in Tom O'Donnell's office at the time we signed that paper that was all the interest my dad had." She said that she thought it was in her dad's name, but they said no it belonged to the boys. (Tr. 38).

When cross examined with respect to certain statement made in a deposition wherein she had answered that she knew her father had turned in cattle and pasture land on the purchase of the LaPoint land, she sought to qualify these statements by saying that she found these things out in 1949 (Tr. 35, 36).

J. Percy Goddard testified as an expert that certain assignments relating to the LaPoint property and which appear in the record as exhibits A, B and C, had been altered, in that first names therein had been removed, and the name J. Archie had been substituted therein, leaving the last name McConkie as it was originally. (Tr. 55, 56, 57). He also admitted on cross examination that a similar alteration appeared in one assignment in said exhibits prior to the

assignment to McConkie, (Tr. 63), so that this practice was not unique.

A stipulation was offered by counsel for the defendants that the assignments were changed by J. Archie McConkie at the request of his father. Exhibit F. is a paragraph from an answer filed in a previous suit brought by this same plaintiff, (which case was dismissed without prejudice) in which J. Archie McConkie alleged that he erased the name of Virtus F. McConkie and inserted his own name, at the request of his father Virtus F. McConkie and in the presence of his father, William and Caroline E. McConkie.

The plaintiff failed utterly to prove any of the requisite facts under which she would be entitled to a recovery. The only testimony she introduced even remotely bearing on the change in the assignments was her testimony that she and her attorney asked Archie and Will if they hadn't erased her dad's name on the assignments and put in Arch's and they said yes, and Arch said she couldn't do anything about it, and Will said they would all stick together (Tr. 10, 11).

On the other hand, Marie McConkie Johnson, the only living heir of Virtus F. McConkie, aside from the litigants, and who had as much to gain as did the plaintiff by claiming to have not known

about the situation with respect to the LaPoint property, testified quite frankly that she did know the details of the transaction for the LaPoint property. That 80 acres of land in Ashley Ward and some cows were traded for it (Tr. 164, 165); that Will and Arch and their father worked as partners (Tr. 171) and that at the meeting in O'Donnell's office the LaPoint property was discussed as belonging to the boys.

She also testified to several conversations with Pearl subsequent to her father's death, and up to the early part of 1946, which indicated that Pearl, during all that period of time was aware of the situation with respect to the LaPoint property, and had been trying to get her to join in to get a part of the property away from the boys. (Tr. 174, 178, 179). She also testified to a conversation in 1928 when Pearl told her that she had got the girls an additional \$1,000 as a share in the LaPoint property (Tr. 174, 176). She also told of a conversation in July 1946, in which Pearl stated she felt she should get more from the LaPoint property (Tr. 177) and that she didn't think she had got her share from her father's estate.

Marie also testified that before her father's death, she had heard talk at home to the effect that the LaPoint property had been fixed to Arch, and that the LaPoint property was in Archie's name when her father died. (Tr. 168, 184).

Verdin Johnson, husband of Marie McConkie Johnson corroborated his wife as to the 1946 conversation. (Tr. 190, 191).

William H. McConkie testified that during his father's lifetime, he, Archie and their father ran their cattle together and the ranches (Tr. 104). That the LaPoint property was acquired in April 1918. (Tr. 104); that the assignments were changed prior to his father's death. (Tr. 135).

With respect to the meeting in O'Donnell's office when the heirs assigned their rights to the mother, he testified that he and his mother had previously talked to O'Donnell, and that it was O'Donnell's advice that they make such a transfer (Tr. 108, 115). That they carried this information to the rest of the family, and that it was agreed upon and thereupon they went to O'Donnell's office and made the assignment.

He further testified that at the meeting with O'Donnell the LaPoint property was discussed pro and con and thrashed out (Tr. 110); that it was fully discussed before they signed, as belonging to the boys (Tr. 110, 111, 116); and that the mother went over with them what property belonged to the estate and what belonged to the boys (Tr. 116). He also testified that the agreement to pay the girls \$2,000 each

arose after the property had been assigned to the mother, and came about as a result of the mother stating she figured each should have \$2,000 out of the estate, and if he and Archie would pay each of the girls \$2,000 and take care of her so long as she lived, she would give them her property (Tr. 118, 119). He also testified that prior to his mother's death, she deeded to he and Archie all her property, including any interest she had in the LaPoint property. (Tr. 119, 120). An objection was sustained to this answer, but plaintiff made no motion to strike it. (Tr. 120). Defendant's exhibit 3, a quit claim deed to the land in LaPoint from the mother to Archie was offered in evidence but an objection to it was erroneously sustained. (Tr. 121)

William also testified to the payment to Pearl of her \$2,000 and an additional \$1500 beyond this (Tr. 123, 124 130), which was paid at the mother's recommendation (Tr. 129); that this was in January of 1927 (Tr. 129, 130).

J. Archie McConkie testified that they agreed to assign all their rights over to their mother prior to the time that he and William agreed to pay the girls \$2,000 (Tr. 244); that after his father's death he and Will operated the LaPoint land as partners (Tr. 247); that they were the only ones who owned

it, and at the time of his father's death they claimed it as their own and so stated in O'Donnell's office.

Appellants have outlined the evidence in considerable detail, because they believe that the trial court erred in finding as he did thereon, and that the evidence on behalf of the plaintiff is insufficient to sustain the court's findings conclusions and judgment, and that to the contrary, the evidence clearly supports the defendants' position throughout.

### **Statement of Points Relied Upon by the Appellant**

1. There was no evidence introduced to prove that Virtus F. McConkie owned the LaPoint property at the time of his death, nor any other of the essential allegations of Plaintiff's complaint.

2. The evidence is insufficient to support the following findings of the Court:

A. The evidence is insufficient to support the part of finding No. 9 wherein the Court found that "The said property and assignments referred to in paragraphs 6, 7 and 8 of these findings were owned and possessed by the said Virtus F. McConkie at the time of his death.

B. The evidence does not support finding No. 10 that "Subsequent to the making and delivery of said assignments on April 29, 1918, to Virtus F. McConkie as set forth in paragraphs 6, 7 and 8 of these findings the defendant J. Archie McConkie falsely

and fraudulently, and with the intent to defraud the plaintiff and other heirs at law of the estate of Virtus F. McConkie, deceased, erased, obliterated and removed the name of Virtus F. McConkie from said written assignments and inserted in the place thereof his own name, J. Archie McConkie; and also at said subsequent time erased in the affidavits of citizenship upon said assignments the signature of Virtus F. McConkie and inserted his own name in place thereof; that the defendant J. Archie McConkie erased, obliterated and removed the name of the said Virtus F. McConkie from said instruments as hereinabove set forth with the knowledge, acquiescence, consent and encouragement of the defendant William H. McConkie and upon an understanding and agreement that the gains to be obtained from aid fraudulent scheme in thus removing the name of the said Virtus F. McConkie from said instruments would be shared by the defendants, J. Archie McConkie and William H. McConkie."

C. The evidence does not support that part of finding No. 11 wherein the court found: "Upon the death of the said Virtus F. McConkie, the defendants, J. Archie McConkie and William H. McConkie, went into possession of the said real property, and the said defendants stated to the plaintiff that they were the owners of said land and that none of the same constituted any portion of the said estate of Virtus F. McConkie, deceased; that plaintiff and other daughters of deceased believed said defendants in the statements which they thus made and relied thereon, and said statements were falsely and fraudulently made with the intent to deceive the plaintiff and the other heirs of the estate of Virtus F. McConkie, deceased; . . ."

D. The evidence is insufficient to sustain the



Court's finding No. 12, "That plaintiff, at all times until on or about the 9th day of April, 1949, believed that said property belonged to the said defendants, J. Archie McConkie and William H. McConkie; that, on or about the date last mentioned, plaintiff, for the first time, learned that the assignments mentioned in paragraph 6, 7 and 8 of these Findings of Fact had been forged and altered as hereinabove set forth; that upon learning such facts plaintiff immediately made demand upon the defendants, and each of them, that the estate of Virtus F. McConkie be re-opened for probate or that said defendants make satisfactory accounting and settlement with plaintiff and the other heirs of the said Virtus F. McConkie, deceased; that said defendants failed and refused to restore said property to the heirs of said estate, or to make any accounting whatsoever and on the contrary at all times since said demand was made upon them the defendants have asserted that said property belonged to the defendant J. Archie McConkie in his own right."

E. The evidence is insufficient to support the Court's finding No. 13, "That shortly prior to February 14, 1946, the defendant J. Archie McConkie presented to the State Land Board of the State of Utah, the said forged, altered and mutilated assignments and affidavits of citizenship and the State of Utah, without detecting that said instruments had been forged, altered and mutilated, issued patents to the real property hereinabove described to the defendant J. Archie McConkie, which said patents are recorded in the office of the County Recorder of Uintah County, State of Utah, in Book 33 of Deeds at page 567 and 569 and that, as a result of said recording, said defendant J. Archie McConkie appears to be the record owner of the said real property.

F. The evidence is insufficient to support the Court's finding No. 15, that "The court finds and decides that plaintiff and the other heirs of Virtus F. McConkie, deceased, are the owners of the property described in paragraphs 6, 7 and 8 of these Findings . . . and the court now finds that plaintiff and the other heirs of the said Virtus F. McConkie, deceased, are entitled to such an accounting. . . ."

G. The evidence is insufficient to support the Court's finding No. 3 of Findings of Fact on Defendants' Answer, First Defense, wherein the court found that Plaintiff's action was not barred by the Statute of Limitations, Sec. 104-2-24 (3), U.C.A. 1943, and that plaintiff did not learn that the real property was owned by Virtus F. McConkie, nor did she learn such facts as would put a person of ordinary intelligence and prudence on inquiry until within three years from the filing of her complaint.

H. The evidence is insufficient to sustain the Court's finding No. 1 on Defendants' Second Defense, wherein the court found that J. Archie McConkie is not the owner in fee of the property by virtue of the patents issued to him by the State of Utah, but that the Defendant J. Archie McConkie, holds title to said lands in trust for plaintiff and the other heirs of Virtus F. McConkie.

I. The evidence is insufficient to sustain finding No. 3 on Defendants' Third Defense, wherein it is found: "It is not true that there was an agreement between the heirs of Virtus F. McConkie, deceased, to the effect that the defendants would take over all of the assets of the estate referred to as the LaPoint property and pay to the three daughters Pearl McConkie Perry, Marie McConkie and Leona McConkie,

the sum of \$2,000 each and, in addition thereto, provide and care for the said Caroline E. McConkie for the rest of her natural life; in this connection, the court finds that the said three daughters last mentioned agreed to take the sum of \$2,000 each as their share of the estate of deceased which had been listed and set forth in the inventory and appraisalment therein filed; that the gross inventory of said listed estate which did not include the land or water stock described in plaintiff's complaint was \$15,040, and one-third of the value thereof belonged to Caroline E. McConkie, the mother, and the other two-thirds thereof, namely approximately \$10,000 in value, belonged to the five sons and daughters of deceased, and that one-fifth of said \$10,000 valuation equaled \$2,000; and, accordingly, and based upon said specific inventory and listing of the properties of deceased, the plaintiff and her sisters agreed with defendants to accept the sum of \$2,000 each in settlement of their distributive portion of said estate; that each of said daughters was paid the sum of \$2,000; it is not true that the plaintiff objected to this amount and insisted that she was entitled to a greater sum, and it is not true that the plaintiff was paid an additional \$1,000 by way of distribution from said estate; and, in this connection, the court finds that the plaintiff received an additional \$1,000 from the defendants by way of an insurance settlement on plaintiff's property, and not otherwise."

J. The evidence does not sustain finding No. 4 of Findings of Fact on Defendants' Third Defense wherein it found: "The court finds that, when plaintiff and her sisters signed the Assignment set forth in paragraph 1 above, they signed the same in reliance upon the representation made by Caroline E. McConkie and the defendants to the effect that the real property described in paragraphs 6, 7 and

8 of these Findings on plaintiff's complaint did not belong to Virtus F. McConkie deceased; that the agreement with respect to the payment of \$2,000 to the daughters of said deceased covered only the property of said decedent which had been listed in the inventory and appraisement and was not intended to affect the property described on plaintiff's complaint; and the court now finds that the plaintiff is not estopped by reason of accepting said \$2,000 from claiming her interest in the real property which was omitted from the said inventory and appraisement."

3. Under plaintiff's own evidence she would not be entitled to the award which the court made, because J. Archie McConkie and William H. McConkie clearly had an interest in the LaPoint property during the lifetime of the father.

4. Plaintiff's right of action, if one ever existed is barred by the Statute of Limitations, and by laches.

5. Plaintiff waived any interest which she may have had in the LaPoint property by the assignment to her mother, to whom any such interest was distributed by the Decree of Distribution which may not be circumvented by this attack upon it.

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