1952

Pearl McConkie Perry v. J. Archie McConkie and William H. McConkie : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Let it also be observed that these land sale contracts were entered into by the State of Utah with the original contracting parties on June 26, 1911, and that at the time of the death of Virtus F. McConkie the contracts were practically paid in full. The last contract payments were made on January 5, 1921, prior to the time the inventory and appraisal was filed in the Virtus F. McConkie estate. If these contracts ever belonged to the defendants they belonged to them on January 5, 1921 and the patents could have been issued at that time.

Why did the defendants secretly hold the contracts of sale until shortly prior to February 14, 1946, a period of twenty-five years?

Plaintiff does not know when, following the death of Virtus F. McConkie, these instruments were altered and mutilated by the defendants but in the long interim Tom O'Donnel, the attorney who probated the estate, Tyzack the notary public who notarized the signatures of Myron and John S. Hacking the assignors of the contracts of sale, and the assignors themselves had died. The defendants purposely waited until death sealed the lips of those who might expose their fraudulent actions. It took them twenty-five years to get up enough courage to take these forged and mutilated instruments to the State Land Board for the issuance of patents.

The said documents which were at last surrendered to the State Land Board of the State of Utah by the unclean and trembling hands of J. Archie McConkie speak against him and position taken by him and his co-conspirator and co-defendant William H. McConkie more loudly and conclusively than any oral or written argument which might be advanced. The trial court was impressed by these documents and we feel certain that the members of the Supreme Court will be equally impressed if they personally examine the same.

II

DID THE ASSIGNMENT BY THE HEIRS IN 1922 AND
THE DECREE OF THE COURT IN 1924 HAVE THE
EFFECT OF DISTRIBUTING THE LaPOINT
PROPERTY WHICH WAS NOT LISTED
OR INVENTORIED IN THE ESTATE?

Herein we meet the argument advanced in Point V in Appellants' Brief.

It seems moot even to argue this proposition. It is true the defendants in their third defense in their answer set forth the estate assignment executed on February 25, 1922 by the McConkie heirs (Defendants' Exhibit 1). The defendants, however, do not claim that title vested in the defendant J. Archie McConkie either directly or indirectly by virtue of defendants' Exhibit 1 but claim that by reason of her executing the said instrument the plaintiff "is estopped from claiming any right or interest in the said property described in her complaint." The position of the defendants at all times throughout the trial and in their argument on the appeal is that title to the LaPoint property is vested in the defendant J. Archie McConkie because of the issuance of patents from the State of Utah to him upon surrender of the assigned contracts of sale. Nowhere in their pleadings do the defendants attempt to deraign title through the so-called estate assignment of February 24, 1922 (Defendants' Exhibit 1) but only assert an estoppel against plaintiff on account thereof. We submit that none of the elements of an estoppel are either pleaded or proved. The defendants are not innocent parties who relied to their detriment upon some representation or conduct on the part of the plaintiff. On the contrary, they are fraudulent conspirators who, either alone or in conjunction with their deceased mother, purposely omitted the listing or inventorying of the LaPoint property and lead plaintiff and the other heirs to believe that the LaPoint property belonged to the defendant and that no part of it belonged to the estate. They are in poor position to urge an estoppel based upon their own fraud.

Again—a review of the documents themselves is more

rewarding than argument. The manner in which the estate was handled spells out what the parties intended. The inventory and appraisement does not list the LaPoint property and the entire listed estate was appraised at the sum of \$15,040.00. Virtus F. McConkie died intestate. One-third of the estate belonged to the surviving wife and the other two-thirds, approximately \$10,000.00 in value, belonged to the five sons and daughters of deceased and accordingly and based upon said specific inventory and listing of the properties of deceased the plaintiff and her sisters agreed to accept from the defendants the sum of \$2,000.00 each in exchange for their interest in the listed estate property. Plaintiff joined with other heirs in executing the estate assignment only upon being assured that the property of deceased was that listed in the estate file. It is true that an omnibus clause contained in the decree of distribution will have the effect of distributing all property of deceased but this is not true if the heirs have been misled and deceived as to what assets belonged to deceased. Such is our case. Fraud vitiates the whole transaction. The defendants are not assignees or grantees in this assignment. The assignment is to the mother. The defendants are not innocent purchasers. They have at all times known about the fraud. The mother may or may not have known about it. The mother is not relying upon the estate assignment. She is not a party to the litigation. Only the perpetrators of the fraud rely on it. They seek to sustain their title by pointing to an instrument which was signed by the plaintiff when she was acting under the influence of the belief which she entertained that the boys and not the father owned this property. This belief was caused by their

concealments and misrepresentations. They seek to take advantage of their own wrongs. This neither law nor equity will sanction.

The assignment could not operate as a conveyance aside from the question of fraud. The paramount object in the construction of a deed, and the rule for the same in the construction of an assignment (5 *Corpus Juris* 943, Section 116)), is to give effect to the intention of the parties to it. Such intention is to be gathered from a consideration of the entire instrument written in the light of circumstances under which it was executed. See: *Wise v. Watts*, 9 Cir., 239 P. 207, 218, 152 C.C.A. 195, certiorari denied 244 U. S. 661, 37 S. Ct. 745, 61 L. Ed. 1376. When the members of the McConkie family executed the assignment transferring their respective interests in the property of which their father died seized and possessed to their mother, all parties to the conveyance except the two brothers, defendants in this action, and probably the mother were thinking about the real estate and personal property which the administratrix had returned to the court as being property of the estate. At that time discussion was had with respect to the LaPoint property. The defendants and the mother stated that the LaPoint property belonged to the defendants (Tr. p. 139). The assignment was made broad enough to cover all of the property of deceased then known and which is described in the inventory and appraisement as well as any other property which was **not then known to them** and which he owned or in which he had any interest. But it is so clear as almost to be self-evident that they did not intend the assignment to include the LaPoint property

now in litigation because they definitely had such property in mind and considered that their father had no interest in it. Since none of the heirs considered the LaPoint property to be affected by the estate assignment surely the court will not now find and hold to the contrary. The only reason plaintiff agreed to receive and did receive \$2,000.00 as her share of the estate was because there was \$10,000.00 worth of property to be divided among five sons and daughters and one-fifth thereof equaled \$2,000.00.

The decree of distribution in the McConkie estate is no better than the assignment upon which it rests. The assignment is merged in the decree. **Hopkins v. White**, 20 Calif. 234, 128 P. 780. Whatsoever title was conveyed by plaintiff to her mother by the assignment was confirmed in the mother by the decree. But no more. Since the assignment is merged in the decree the latter is evidence of nothing that is not evidenced by the former and the latter is open to the same construction as the former and is also subject to the same infirmities. Since the assignment is vitiated by fraud the decree is likewise so vitiated. The general principles applicable to the construction of judgments are applied in construing an order or decree of distribution. Judgments must be construed as a whole. In case of ambiguity or doubt the entire record may be examined or considered, **Snow v. West**, 37 Utah 528, 110 P. 52. Since the court may examine the entire record to determine the meaning of the decree of distribution it may look to the assignment which is the basis of the decree and in so looking it will see that the LaPoint property is not included.

III

IS PLAINTIFF BARRED FROM RECOVERY HEREIN
BECAUSE OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS
OR LACHES?

Defendants contend that plaintiff knew or should have known of her father's claim or interest in the LaPoint property at the time the estate was being probated and therefore her right to recovery is barred by the Statute of Limitations. The Statute of Limitations which was then applicable to our action was that of **Utah Code Annotated 1943, 104-2-24 (3)**. The three-year statute of limitations governs fraud cases. In 1947 the plaintiff first heard something was irregular; she actually learned of the fraud in April, 1949, and started her action in November 1949.

Defendants say plaintiff must have known her father owned the LaPoint property because it is set forth in her complaint in the earlier action that the property was purposely omitted from the estate by agreement of the heirs to save expenses. Plaintiff denies there was any such agreement. (Tr. p. 214-217). Defendants do not claim there was any such agreement among the heirs. All parties agree there was no such understanding. It is, therefore, idle to spend time arguing this contention.

Defendants, however, say that we should have mistrusted them and their mother, should not have believed the representations made by all three, but should have conducted an independent investigation and commenced an action when the estate was in probate. Let us look at the situation which prevailed. The defendants were grown men and were both unmarried and immediately following their father's death they, along with their mother, took over the

handling of the affairs. On the other hand the plaintiff at that time was divorced and had several small children. She relied implicitly in the representations and good faith of her brothers and her mother. Her mother was appointed administratrix but the actual handling of the property and affairs was more or less left to the defendants (Tr. p. 136). The defendant J. Archie McConkie testified moreover that a partnership relation existed between him, his co-defendant and their mother from the time of their father's death until the year 1937 (Tr. p. 246). The defendant William H. McConkie stated that he and his brother assisted their mother in handling the affairs of their father after his death (Tr. p. 105). The defendants lived with their mother at all times following their father's death in the year 1920 to the year 1937 (Tr. p. 106, 161). In the several conferences which lead up to the execution of the assignment in the estate (Defendants' Exhibit 1) the mother stated to the heirs which property belonged to deceased and which property belonged to the boys (Tr. p. 116) and when the mother made the statements the defendants didn't say anything to the contrary (Tr. p. 139). The mother stated that the La-Point property had been bought for the boys (Tr. p. 147). That language in itself is significant. She didn't say the boys bought it—she said it **had been bought for the boys.**

Was the plaintiff, who at this time was burdened with the problem of supporting herself and her minor children, unreasonable in relying upon the representations made by her own mother and by her elder brothers who were looking after the affairs of the estate? We say she was not unreasonable and that there was nothing to excite her attention until word leaked out that the patents had finally been

issued. On the contrary, there was a relationship of trust and confidence between plaintiff and her mother and her brothers. There was not only a blood relationship but the mother with the active management of the brothers was administering the estate as a fiduciary. Plaintiff believed them and relied upon them (Tr. p. 32 et passim). Had she gone to the records at the County Court House or at the State Capitol she would have found no instruments which would have indicated that her father was the owner of the LaPoint land. The equity in the land was not being taxed in 1920, 1921 or 1922 (Tr. p. 83). The contracts of sale at the State Capitol stood in the names of John S. and Myron Hacking. The brothers had worked on the LaPoint land with their father, and when the administratrix who was also her mother told the plaintiff the land belonged to the boys the plaintiff acted reasonably in believing that it did belong to the boys and not to her father. As defendants argue in their brief plaintiff believed the defendants owned the LaPoint property.

There is a conflict in the testimony between the plaintiff on the one hand and her sister, Marie Johnson, and the latter's husband, Virden R. Johnson, on the other hand. Defendants in their brief place great stress upon the testimony from the "disinterested witness," Marie Johnson. She was such a willing witness that it required the combined efforts of the court, opposing counsel and her own attorneys to restrain her enthusiasm at the trial (Tr. bottom half of p. 185 and top half of p. 186). Marie Johnson, however, after the pot began to boil in 1947, received a deed to a valuable piece of property from the mother. This deed was executed July 19, 1948 (Tr. p. 251). It was the co-defendants who

actually paid the money to construct the home situated on this property. They expended for the improvements alone the sum of \$3,800.00 (Tr. p. 143). Marie Johnson and her husband, Virden R. Johnson, had been rewarded by the conveyance to them of this improved land, and it is against this background that the interest and testimony of Marie and Virden R. Johnson was evaluated by the trial court and must be evaluated upon appeal.

It is little wonder that the trial court was not impressed by the vacillating testimony of the defendant J. Archie McConkie. See the transcript at page 246:

Q. (By Mr. Jensen) Following your father's death state whether or not you and your brother Will and your mother operated as co-partners?

A. We did, we worked together.

Q. And you continued to work as co-partners, the three of you, until your mother's death, did you?

A. No sir, until '37 about.

Q. Did you have the LaPoint property included in that partnership?

A. Yes, we had that along too.

Q. That was right within the partnership, was it?

A. No, no.

Q. What was your answer, yes or no?

A. No sir, that wasn't exactly along with the rest of the stuff.

Q. Wasn't exactly?

A. No, it wasn't partnership along with all of it.

Q. You claimed that as your own, did you?

A. Well,—

Q. Answer that yes or no.

A. Well, it would be yes and no. Will had an interest in it too.

This defendant's attorney only risked four questions with him upon direct examination (Tr. p. 238).

The conflict in testimony was resolved in favor of the plaintiff. The trial court heard and saw the witnesses, observed their demeanor and believed one against several. Its decision in so doing should not be disturbed.

IV

IS PLAINTIFF'S ACTION IN EQUITY MAINTAINABLE WITHOUT REOPENING THE VIRTUS F. McCONKIE ESTATE?

Herein we meet Point VI of Defendants Brief.

At the outset we point out that the want of legal capacity to sue is waived unless it is attacked by the answer or under the old rules by demurrer or answer. *Chamberlain et al v. Larsen et al* (Utah) 29 P. 2d 355; *Tooele Meat & Storage Co. v. Fite Candy Co.*, 57 Utah 1, 116 P. 427. So it is with waiver of nonjoinder or misjoinder: *Sidney Stevens Implement Co. v. South Ogden Land, Building & Improvement Co.*, 20 Utah 267, 58 P. 843, also *Salt Lake City v. Salt Lake Investment Co.*, 43 Utah 181, 134 P. 603. Neither by demurrer or answer have the defendants raised any question with respect to the form of this action. Capacity to sue must be raised by the pleadings, otherwise it is waived:

“Moreover, no objection was made at the proper time and in the proper manner to plaintiff's ca-

capacity to sue either by a demurrer or answer and therefore if there had been any merit to this contention it was waived." *Cobb v. Hartenstein*, 47 Utah 174, 152 P. 424.

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